1995

James R. Collins v. Salt Lake County Fire Civil Service Commission : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is from a final Order of the Third District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to review this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 78-2a-3(2)(a) (1995 Supp.).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

(I) The trial court erred in finding that the Commission was authorized to delegate the preparation and administration of promotional examinations to an employee of the Commission pursuant Utah Code Ann. Sections 17-28-3 and 17-28-4. The interpretation of a statute is a question of law which is reviewed for correctness. Dall v. State, 888 P.2d 680, 685 (Utah App. 1994); Krauss v. Utah State Dep't of Transp., 852 P.2d 1014, 1017 (Utah App.) cert. denied, 862 P.2d 1356 (Utah 1993); Ward v. Richfield City, 798 P.2d 757, 759 (Utah 1990); Lounsbury v. Capel, 836 P.2d 188, 192 (Utah App.), cert. denied, 843 P.2d 1042 (Utah 1992).

(II) The trial court erred in finding that the Commission fulfilled its obligations under Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-7 (1991 Supp.). The interpretation of a statute is a question of law which is reviewed for correctness. Dall, 888 P.2d at 685; Krauss, 852 P.2d at 1017; Ward, 798 P.2d at 759; Lounsbury, 836 P.2d at 192.

(III) The trial court erred in finding that the proceedings before the Commission were fair and not unconstitutional.

Utah appellate courts apply a correction-of-error standard when reviewing constitutional challenges to a Commission's rulings. Bunnell, 740 P.2d at 1333; Utah Dept. of Admin. Serv's, 658 P.2d at 608 (Utah 1983).

(IV) The trial court erred in upholding the Commission's decision and in finding that the Exam was fair and not unconstitutional. Utah appellate courts apply a correction-of-error standard when reviewing constitutional challenges to a Commission's rulings. Bunnell v. Industrial Comm'n, 740 P.2d 1331, 1333 (Utah 1987); Utah Dept. of Admin. Serv's v. Public Serv. Comm'n, 658 P.2d 601, 608 (Utah 1983). With regard to the trial court's upholding of the Commission's findings, the Commission's findings of fact are reviewed under a substantial evidence standard. "[S]ubstantial evidence is 'such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.'" Hercules, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n, 877 P.2d 169, 172 (Utah App. 1994) (quoting Orton v. State Tax Comm'n, 864 P.2d 904, 908 (Utah App. 1993); Grace Drilling Co. v. Industrial Comm'n, 776 P.2d 63, 68 (Utah App. 1989)).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES, RULES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The determinative statutes, rules and constitutional provisions are set forth in the addendum where not set forth fully in the body of this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is from the final order of the district court reviewing the formal adjudicative proceedings of the Fire Civil Service Commission. Plaintiff and Appellant James R. Collins ("Collins") filed a Verified Complaint in the Third District Court in September of 1988 alleging that the Fire Civil Service Commission failed to meet its statutory requirement in administering the Battalion Chief Exam (the "Exam") given on January 26-27, 1988, and that the Exam itself was unfair. (R. 1-10).

Collins filed a Verified Amended Complaint on the 14th of December, 1988 adding allegations that the actions of the Fire Civil Service Commission ("Commission") in administering the Exam and in connection with the administrative hearing held on July 20, 1988 were arbitrary, capricious, and constituted a denial of Collins' rights. Collins' Verified Amended Complaint sought relief in the form of (i) an injunction enjoining the Defendants from certifying promotions based upon the Exam results; (ii) an Order declaring the Exam invalid; (iii) a Writ of Mandamus requiring that Collins be certified as eligible for promotion to the next available position of Battalion Chief; (iv) a Writ of Mandamus requiring the Commission to produce requested information; and damages. (R. 64-86).

Upon Defendant's Motion to Limit the Court's Review (R. 349-59), the district court entered an Order, dated January 26, 1995, which stated that the district court would conduct an appellate review of the Commission's proceedings but would consider

issues of due process violations and would allow some de novo testimony regarding the disputed facts (R. 406-409).

The trial of this matter was held on the 13th of October, 1995 (R. 550). After hearing the testimony of Clare Rasmussen, Former Chair of the Commission, and Larry Hinman, Former Chief of the Salt Lake County Fire Department, the district court denied Plaintiff's relief and dismissed Plaintiff's claims. (R. 550-56). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Collins was a captain in the Salt Lake County Fire Department when he sat for the Battalion Chief Promotional Examination (the "Exam") in January of 1988 (R. 64-65). The Exam was prepared under the direction of Jim Christiansen ("Christiansen"), a paid employee of Salt Lake County who then worked under the designation of the Executive Director of the Fire Civil Service Commission (the "Commission") (R. 573). The Exam was not prepared by the Commission itself, nor did the Commission take an active role in administering the Exam or scoring the Exam results (R. 578-79).

A. Flaws in Exam.

The Exam was divided into six portions: (i) written exercise; (ii) promotability; (iii) fire simulation; (iv) individual oral; (v) group oral; and (vi) seniority (R. 525, 549A, 570-571). Collins placed eighth out of eight participants and thereafter contested three specific sections of the Exam: the promotability

section, the fire simulation section, and the written exercise section (R. 525, 529, 549A). Collins' grievances came on for a hearing before the Commission--the same body statutory charged with administering the Exam--on the 20th of July, 1988 (R. 525, 549A).

Concerning the fire simulation portion of the Exam, the problem was written by Robert Swenson who was an assistant chief in the Fire Department. Christiansen, the hired Executive Director of the Commission, wrote the grading evaluation for the fire simulation problem. (R. 526, 549A). Collins challenged the lack of instructions to the evaluators regarding the use of a command organizational chart during the Exam.

Concerning the written examination section, Collins contended that (i) it contained a problem which had been used in the past, and also resembled a situation similar to an actual incident in which at least two evaluators had participated; and (ii) although each evaluator was to rate each candidate in terms of comprehensiveness: whether "the summary include[d] all relevant information," the evaluators were not given a list of the "relevant information" to be included. (R. 527-28, 549A).

Concerning the promotability section of the Exam, Collins claimed (i) that a candidate might have an advantage over other candidates by having a supervisor who is an evaluator; and (ii) that Collins' personnel file, which was reviewed by evaluators from within the Fire Department, was incomplete. (R. 528-30; 549A).

In addition to the substantive problems with the Exam, Collins contended that the Exam was not administered in accordance

with the Commission's statutory mandate. The Commission took no role relative to the promotional portion of the Exam. Nor did the Commission prepare the Exam or review the Exam. (R. 530, 549A, 569, 578-79).

Additionally, evaluators from within the Fire Department were used to evaluate the candidates resulting in disproportionate scores on those portions where the identities of the candidates were known to the evaluators (inside boards) as opposed to those where the candidates were unknown to the evaluators (outside boards). For instance, Collins' performance on the outside boards was consistently higher than his performance on the inside boards. Collins scored in the eighty percent range on those sections of the Exam which were outside boards. Yet, Collins scored in the seventy percent range or lower on sections of the Exam which were inside boards. Collins' average score on the outside boards was higher than the candidate who ultimately ranked second overall, yet Collins ultimately ranked eighth out of eight candidates overall. (R. 531-32; 549A).

B. Due Process Issues.

Not only were there problems with the Exam itself, there were also flaws in the Commission's hearing of Collins' grievances. For instance, Collins' grievances regarding the fairness of the Exam were heard by the Commission which is the very body statutorily authorized to prepare and conduct the exam. (R. 549A). This situation was ripe for due process violations. Additionally, Collins was not given access to many documents and information for

which access was vital to a complete and fair adjudication of Collins' grievances. (R. 581-82).

After the hearing on or about the 20th of July, 1988, the Commission ruled against Collins in a decision dated August 18, 1988. The Commission held among other things the Exam was "administered properly, all candidates were tested fairly, and there was no evidence of bias or irregularity." (R. 462). Collins then filed his Verified Complaint contesting the Exam and the July 20th hearing (R. 1-10).

C. District Court Action.

Ultimately, this case came on for trial on the 13th of October, 1995 (R. 550). The issues at trial were limited to whether the Commission abused its discretion, failed to act as required by statute, and violated the due process rights of Collins in the administration of the Exam and the subsequent hearing on Collins' grievances. At trial, Collins asserted that Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-6 mandated that the Commission prepare and administer the Exam, and that the Commission wholly failed in its charge, resulting in an unfair examination process. (R. 566-89).

Collins also asserted that the Commission's review of Collins' grievances with the examination process was a violation of his due process rights since the same tribunal charged with administering a fair examination heard Collins' claims and decided upon the fairness of the examination at the hearing in 1988 (R. 566, 582).

At the conclusion of trial, the court ruled that Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-7 (1991 Supp.) applied instead of Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-6, and notwithstanding Collins' claim that Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-7 also required the Commission to prepare and conduct the Exam, the Commission fulfilled its obligations under the statute by delegating its duties to Christiansen. The court reasoned that Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-3, the Fire Civil Service Commission Act, allowed the Commission to have an employee, specifically a secretary, to perform such duties as may be required, including preparing and administering a promotional examination for the Fire Department. (R. 587-89).

The trial court concluded among other things that (i) the Commission fulfilled its obligations pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-7 (1991 Supp.); (ii) the decision of the Commission dated August 18, 1988 was rational and reasonable; (iii) although not perfect, the hearing before the Commission was fair and not unconstitutional; (iv) that the Commission's decision concerning Collins' discovery requests was rational and reasonable; (v) the Exam, while not perfect, was constitutional and fair; and (vi) Collins has failed in his burden to show clear error by the Commission in conducting the Battalion Chief exam in 1988. (R. 551-56) Collins subsequently filed this appeal (R. 557).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Collins advances four arguments on appeal in support of his assertion that the Exam was invalid, unfair, and unconstitutional: (i) the Exam administered in January of 1988 was invalid because the Commission was not statutorily authorized to delegate the task of preparing and administering the Exam to Jim Christiansen who was not a member of the Commission; (ii) the Commission did not fulfill its obligations pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-7 (1991 Supp.); (iii) the Administrative Hearing before the Commission violated Collins' due process rights and therefore was unconstitutional; and (iv) the Exam itself was unfair and unconstitutional.

Regarding Collins' first argument on appeal, Collins asserts that the Commission was statutorily required to prepare and administer the January 1988 battalion chief examination. The Commission abdicated its statutory responsibility by delegating the task of preparing and administering the Exam to Jim Christiansen who was not a member of the Commission. This delegation of authority was not permitted by Utah Code Sections 17-28-3 and 17-28-4 as the trial court found. The impermissible delegating rendered the entire examination process invalid. Collins has been injured by the Commission's reliance upon an invalid examination in promoting certain personnel while not promoting Collins to the rank of battalion chief based solely upon the results of the invalid examination.

Collins' second argument on appeal is closely related to his first. The Commission's delegation of the preparation and administration of the examination to Jim Christiansen was not only impermissible under Utah Code Ann. Sections 17-28-3 and 17-28-4, it also constituted a violation of the Commission's statutory mandate under Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-7 (1991 Supp.). As such, the examination must be invalidated and Collins is entitled to recover his damages resulting from not being promoted because of the invalid examination.

Collins' third argument concerns the grievance proceedings before the Commission itself. The Commission, the entity statutorily required to prepare and administer the examination, was the same entity which reviewed the fairness of the examination. This arrangement constitutes a fundamental violation of Collins' right to due process.

Collins asserts, in his final argument on appeal, that in addition to being invalid, the examination was unfair and as such was unconstitutional. Obvious flaws existed in several portions of the examination, which flaws precluded the examination from "fairly test[ing] the fitness in every respect of persons examined." Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-7 (1991 Supp.). The trial court erred in determining that the examination was constitutionally fair.

The fact that the Commission did not prepare and administer the battalion chief examination of January 1988 is a sufficient basis, as a matter of law, to invalidate the examination and to remand this matter to the trial court for a determination of

Collins' damages. Combined with the remaining errors in the examination, the administrative hearing, and the trial court's review thereof, there can be no doubt that Collins is entitled to recover his damages as a result of the invalid examination.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE COMMISSION WAS AUTHORIZED TO DELEGATE THE PREPARATION AND ADMINISTRATION OF PROMOTIONAL EXAMINATIONS TO JIM CHRISTIANSEN PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 17-28-3 AND 17-28-4 OF THE UTAH CODE.

Collins' first assignment of error on appeal is that the trial court erroneously interpreted Utah Code Ann. Sections 17-28-3, 17-28-4 and 17-28-7 (1991 Supp.) and that based upon its erroneous interpretation, it incorrectly found and concluded that the Commission had properly delegated the task of preparing and administering the Exam to Jim Christiansen. The finding of fact in question states:

15. Plaintiff asserted that the Fire Civil Service Commission could not delegate its authority to prepare and conduct examinations pursuant to §17-28-6. The Court finds that the Fire Civil Service Commission had the authority pursuant to §17-28-3 to have a qualified employee as secretary, i.e. Jim Christiansen, and further finds that §17-28-4 states that the secretary shall perform such other duties as may be required. This section allows Mr. Christiansen the authority to prepare promotional examinations for the Fire Civil Service Commission. The Court further finds that it appears that Mr. Christiansen fulfilled the duties contained in §17-28-3 and §17-28-4 Utah Code Annotated.

(R. 553-54). However, this interpretation is inconsistent with the statutory language and was unsupported by the evidence at trial.

Plaintiff does not contest the court's determination that Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-6 applied and not Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-7; rather, Plaintiff contends that the court incorrectly interpreted Utah Code Ann. Sections 17-28-3 and 17-28-4 to authorize the Commission to abdicate their responsibilities to Jim Christiansen.

Section 17-28-6 stated:

Each of such county firemen's civil service commissions shall prepare and conduct examinations of persons applying for employment in the particular county fire departments coming within its jurisdiction, classify persons successfully passing such examinations in the order of their ascertained merit and prepare a list thereof, make certification of such classifications when required, and make, publish and distribute necessary rules and regulations relative to such examinations, classifications and certifications and as may be proper and desirable in the administration of its duties under this act.

Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-6 (1991 Supp.). Clearly, this statute mandates that the Commission prepare and conduct the promotional examinations. The trial court erred in relying upon Utah Code Ann. Sections 17-28-3 and 17-28-4 in determining that the Commission could delegate its statutory duties to someone who was not a member of the Commission.

Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-3 authorized the board of county commissioners to assign a secretary to the fire civil service commission:

Each of such county firemen's civil service commissions shall be organized by its members by selecting one of its members chairman and shall have assigned to it by the board of county commissioners . . . a qualified employee of the county to act as secretary. Such county employee shall be acceptable to the county firemen's civil service commission and shall act and serve as such secretary without additional compensation. The board of county

commissioners of . . . shall also provide suitable accommodations, equipment and necessary funds to enable the county firemen's civil service commission of its county to attend properly to its business.

Utah Code Ann. 17-28-3 (1991 Supp.).

Section 17-28-4 set forth the duties of the secretary:

The secretary of the county firemen's civil service commission shall keep record of all its meetings and of its work and official acts and shall perform such other service as may be required by such civil service commission and shall have the custody of the commission's books and records.

Utah Code Ann. Section 17-28-4 (1991 Supp.). Clearly, the secretary's duties were clerical in nature. The statutory scheme as it existed in 1989 simply did not allow for the Commission to abdicate its responsibilities to someone who was not a member of the Commission. Certainly, the statutes did not allow the clerical secretary to perform such functions.

Additionally, there was absolutely no evidence presented at the trial of this matter to suggest that Jim Christiansen served the Commission in the capacity of a clerical secretary. In fact, the testimony of Clare Rasmussen--a member of the Commission in 1989--was that there was a secretary for the Commission but that Jim Christiansen was not hired as the secretary for the Commission (R. 578).

The evidence presented at trial showed that Christiansen was fulfilling the responsibilities that belonged to the Commission--not Christiansen--to develop, administer, and correct the promotional examinations. Christiansen served in the capacity of Executive Secretary until 1992 at which time Christiansen became

the Executive Director pursuant to a statutory amendment (R. 569). Christiansen selected the final scenario for the fire simulation portion of the Exam (R. 570). Christiansen prepared the instructions for the Exam (R. 570). Christiansen prepared the grading criteria since he was the individual with the technical expertise (R. 570). Christiansen's role was to develop and administer examinations for the Commission (R. 573). Clearly, these functions were not clerical in nature. Rather, they constituted an impermissible exercise of authority statutorily given to the Commission only.

Moreover, the amendments to the statutes relating to the Firemen's Civil Service Commission in 1992 demonstrate that it was not the legislature's intent under the prior statute to bestow the clerical secretary to the Commission with the responsibilities and statutory authority granted to the Commission. "According to Utah law, subsequent amendments to a statute shall be persuasive evidence of the purpose and intent of the legislature in passing the former statute." State v. Swapp, 808 P.2d 115, 121 n. 9 (Utah App. 1991).

The 1992 amendments to Section 17-28-6 created the position of executive director of the Commission, a position Christiansen had previously held without statutory authority. This statute now provides for the appointment of an executive director for the Commission whose duties include managing and administering examinations, classifying persons who pass examinations in order of merit, and making rules necessary for the administration of exami-

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