1995

James R. Collins v. The Salt Lake County Fire Civil Service Commission : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellee The Salt Lake County Firemen's Civil Service Commission (the "Commission") submits that the proper statement of this Court's jurisdiction over this appeal is found at Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(b) (1996), not at Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(a) (1996) as is alleged by appellant James R. Collins ("Collins").

The section that Collins relies on provides this Court with jurisdiction over "the final orders and decrees resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings of state agencies or appeals from the district court review of informal adjudicative proceedings of the agencies" Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(a) (emphasis added). This section does not apply to the current case. Collins is appealing from district court review of a formal adjudicative proceeding before the Commission, which is not an agency of the state, but rather of Salt Lake County, a political subdivision of the state.

Because the Commission is a County agency and because Collins is appealing from district court review of the Commission's adjudicative proceedings, the proper source for this Court's jurisdiction is found at Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(b) which provides that this Court has jurisdiction over "appeals from the district court review of (i) adjudicative proceedings of

agencies of political subdivisions of the state or other local agencies" The Commission submits that this section describes the proper foundation of this Court's appellate review of this case, rather than the section cited by Collins.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The Commission does not dispute Collins' characterization of any of the issues on appeal except that in the last issue that he raises, the Commission submits that the wrong standard of review is utilized.

The Commission submits that this issue is governed by the standard of review in *Tolman v. Salt Lake County Attorney*, 818 P.2d 23 (Utah App. 1991). In that case this Court stated that, "under Rule 65B, this court looks at the administrative proceedings as if the petition were brought here directly, even though technically it is the district court's decision that is being appealed." *Id.* at 26 (citing *Erkamn v. Civil Service Comm'n*, 198 P.2d 238, 240 (Utah 1948)). "This court gives no deference to the district court's initial appellate review since it was a review of the record, which this court is just as capable of reviewing as the district court." *Id.* (Citations omitted).

The Commission agrees with Collins that the proper standard under which this court should review the Commission's findings of fact is the substantial evidence test.

RELEVANT STATUTORY AND RULE PROVISIONS

With the exception of Rule 65B of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the Commission agrees that Collins has provided this Court with all the relevant statutory provisions on this appeal. The text of those rules are laid out in the Addendum to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the case:

The Commission agrees with the bulk of Collins' statement of the nature of this case. It must be noted however, that this case was before the district court pursuant to Rule 65B of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

B. Course of Proceedings Below.

On or about July 5, 1988, Appellant James R. Collins ("Collins") filed a grievance with the Salt Lake County Firemen's Civil Service Commission ("Commission"). (R. 673). In this grievance Collins challenged three specific sections of an examination that the Commission had given in January of that year to establish the promotion register for the position of Battalion Chief within the Salt Lake County Fire Department. (R. 00675). A hearing was held before the Commission on July 20, 1988. (R. 678). Collins was represented by legal counsel, Duane R. Smith, Esq. represented Collins at that hearing. (R. 679).

After the hearing (R. 680-839), the Commission issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decision, on August 18, 1988. (R. 886-899). In its decision, the Commission found that there was no "reasonable basis for overturning the results of the examination and . . . [held] that the examination results and promotability register be affirmed." (R. 898).

Collins then filed a verified Complaint in district court on September 16, 1988. (R. 1-10). In this complaint, Collins asserted that jurisdiction in the district court was pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 17-28-13. (R. 2). In response, the Commission filed a Motion to Dismiss the action on September 23, 1988. This motion was based on the Commission's belief that Utah Code Ann. § 17-28-13 did not provide any basis for district court review of the Commission hearing. (R. 30-37).

In a Minute Entry dated October 7, 1988, the district court, per Judge Scott Daniels, denied the defendant's Motion to Dismiss. (R. 62). This Minute Entry was more fully explained in an order dated January 12, 1989. In which the district court explained that Collins' remedy was "by way of a writ of Mandamus pursuant to Rule 65B(b)(2)." (R. 85). The court further added: "That pursuant to Rule 65B, the inquiry by this court shall be limited to a determination of whether or not the Fire Civil Service Commission abused its discretion or exceeded its authority." (*Id.*). Collins made no objection to this order. Rather he amended his complaint to assert jurisdiction pursuant to that subdivision of that rule. (R. 65).

On April 21, 1989, the Commission filed a general objection to Collins' Request for Interrogatories. (R. 92-96). The Commission stated that all the documents requested by Collins were beyond the scope of review of an action pursued through Utah R.Civ. P. 65B(b)(2). (R. 92-93). On May 22, 1989, Collins filed a Motion to Compel Discovery. (R. 102-113). Accompanied by a Memorandum of Support. (R. 97-101). In that Memorandum, Collins acknowledged that the jurisdiction of the district court was pursuant to U.R.C.P. 65B(b)(2). (R. 97-98). However, Collins also declared that the "position taken by Plaintiff is that Defendants in administering a promotional examination which is blatantly discriminatory and biased, have thereby exceeded their jurisdiction and have not 'regularly pursued [their] authority.'" (R. 98).

On May 25, 1989, Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss defendant Larry Hinman. (R. 135). On this same date, the Commission also filed a Motion to Define the Scope of Review. (R. 137). The Commission again argued that the district court's scope of review in the case was "limited to an examination of the certified record of the proceedings below." (R. 138). By Minute Entry on June 23, 1989, the Court granted the Motion to Dismiss Defendant Hinman and took under advisement the other motions. (R. 145). In another Minute Entry dated November 7, 1989, the judge ruled that "Plaintiff is entitled to prove that the decision of the Salt Lake County Firemen's Civil Service Commission was capricious, arbitrary, or beyond its

jurisdiction." (R. 146). The court therefore granted Collins' motion to compel. (*Id.*)

The next entry on the record was recorded almost two years later on October 31, 1991. On that date, the district court issued, sua sponte, an Order to Show Cause why the matter should not be dismissed for failure to prosecute. (R. 152). A second show cause order was issued from the district court on January 8, 1992. (R. 156). On January 22, 1992 a Notice of Entry of Appearance of Counsel was filed for Collins. (R. 158). On January 29, 1992 the Commission filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute, accompanied by supporting memorandum. (R. 160-171). This motion was opposed by Collins. (R. 174-234).

About this time, the continuing disagreement between the parties concerning discovery and the scope of review began again on March 26, 1992. On that date, Collins filed another Motion to Compel discovery accompanied by a Memorandum of Points and Authorities in support thereof. (R. 238-246). In that Memorandum, Collins characterized the issue before the court as "whether or not [the Commission] acted arbitrarily and capriciously in the examination of James R. Collins for Battalion Chief." (R. 244).

On July 10, 1992 the Commission filed a Motion to Set Aside and Objection to the Order (R. 273-274) and an accompanying Memorandum in support thereof. (R. 275-285). In that Memorandum, the Commission asserted that the Order to Compel Discover should not have been granted without the court having

ruled on the Commission's Motion to Dismiss. (R. 278-279). The Commission again argued that the case should have been dismissed for failure to prosecute. (R. 279-282). Collins opposed this motion. (R. 286-289). In his Memorandum Collins characterized his action as one "to seek a declaration of this Court that the Salt Lake County Firemen's Civil Service Commission abused its discretion and/or exceeded its authority in the creation of and administration of a Battalion Chief promotional examination (sic) administered in January, 1988." (R. 286). In a Minute Entry dated September 24, 1992, the court, per Judge Iwasaki, denied the Commission's Motion to Set Aside the Discovery Order. (R. 300).

The next significant entry in the record is a Motion, accompanied by a memorandum, filed by the Commission on July 29, 1994, to Limit the Court's Review. (R. 349-362). The Commission argued that the proper scope of the court's review on a Rule 65B action such as Collins' was limited to an examination of the record in the hearing below. (*Id.*) In Collins' opposition memorandum to this motion (R. 363-393), he argued that he was entitled to de novo review before the district court (R. 367-371), and that the interests of justice so demanded. (R. 371-374). The Commission replied, again asserting its argument that Rule 65B limited the review to one on the record. (R. 394-399). The district court entered the following order after considering the motion:

1. The July 20, 1988 hearing before the Salt

Lake County Firemen's Civil Service Commission is considered to be a formal proceeding by the Court.

2. Rule 65(b) [sic] of the Rules of Civil Procedure, however, provides the Court with the opportunity to provide equitable remedies to an aggrieved party and although the Court will, for the most part, conduct the review of the Firemen's Civil Service Commission proceedings as an appellate Court, it will examine issues of due process violations, and will allow some de novo testimony regarding facts in dispute.

3. Those facts in dispute are the authorship and administration of the Battalion Chief exam in controversy, as well as the statements of Defendant Larry Hinman and the Salt Lake County Personnel Director J.D. Johnson regarding exams as set forth and contained in a video tape which was transmitted to Firefighter's in Salt Lake County.

4. As a consequence, the Court will examine such statements when considering issued of proper administration of the test, abuse of discretion, and whether or not the Civil Service Commission failed to act as required by statute.

(R. 407).

On August 28, 1995, the Commission filed a Motion to Dismiss with accompanying memorandum. (R. 438-480). The Commission argued that Collins had failed to name necessary and indispensable parties to the action. (R. 444-450). The basis of this argument was that the other candidates to the exam who had been promoted from the certified register established by the 1988 exam had due process rights that would be affected by any decision of the Court affecting the 1988 exam. (*Id.*).

Collins filed an Opposition Memorandum to this motion on September 8, 1995. (R. 481-508). In that Memorandum, Collins contended that the other parties were not necessary because complete relief could be granted Collins without the other candidates being named. Specifically, Collins asserted that any action decertifying the results of the exam, or demoting any current Battalion Chiefs was mooted by the January 12, 1989 decision of Judge Daniels. (R. 486). Collins acknowledged that the remedy he sought from the Commission was promotion to the rank of Battalion Chief and back pay from 1988. (*Id.*).

In its Reply Memorandum on this motion filed on September 13, 1995, the Commission argued that the relief requested by Collins could not be granted by the Commission. (R. 509-512). The Commission contended that it could not be ordered to promote Collins or give him back pay because both of those remedies were beyond the statutory authority of the Commission. (R. 509-511).

The Court in an Order dated October 11, 1995, denied the Commission's Motion to Dismiss. (R. 516). The Court further

ordered that "Collins' requested remedies of promotion and back pay shall not be considered at trial, but the court may remand these issues with directions to the Fire Civil Service Commission." (*Id.*). The Court then ordered that Collins was limited to calling two witnesses at trial. (R. 517).

The case came on for hearing before Judge Iwasaki on October 13, 1995. (R. 564-590). At the hearing, the Court indicated that it was familiar with the record below. (R. 565-566). The court allowed the testimony of two witnesses, Larry Hinman, the former Chief of the Salt Lake County Fire Department, (R. 568-578); and Clare Rasmussen, a former member of the Commission (R. 578-581). After hearing argument and the testimony, the district court denied Collins' appeal in its Findings of Fact and Decision, dated November 17, 1995. (R. 550-556).

Specifically, the Court found:

16. The Court finds "[T]hat its review is of the record with additional testimony for a limited purpose and not a trial de novo. The record below is reviewed to determine if the Fire Civil Service Commission abused its discretion or exceeded its jurisdiction. The Court finds that the decision of the Fire Civil Service Commission of August 18, 1988 was rational and reasonable.

17. The Court, in its review of the record, gives great deference to the findings of fact contained in the decision of August 18, 1985. The decision contained substantial facts that were supported by the record and the Court finds no abuse of discretion by the Fire Civil Service Commission in reaching its decision.

18. The Court finds that the Administrative Hearing process conducted by the Fire Civil Service Commission, although not perfect, was fair and not unconstitutional.

• • • •

20. The Court finds that the Fire Civil Service

Commission decision on May 25, 1995 concerning discovery requests by the plaintiff were rational and reasonable."

(R. 554).

Collins then filed this appeal.

C. Statement of the Facts.

1. Appellant Collins is currently and was in 1988, a Captain with the Salt Lake County Fire Department.

2. In January of 1988, then Chief Larry Hinman requested, pursuant to statute and policy that the Salt Lake County Firemen's Civil Service Commission prepare a promotional register for the position of Battalion Chief (R. 30).

3. In response to that request, the Commission administered an examination to eight candidates seeking promotion to that rank. (R. 31).

4. The exam consisted of five competitive portions. (R. 887).

5. The exam also considered the seniority of the candidates. (*Id.*).

6. The five competitive portions of the exam were as follows: (1) a written exercise, worth 20% of the weight of the exam; (2) a Department Promotability rating, worth 30% of the total weight of the exam; (3) Fire Simulation Problem, worth 20%; (4) an individual oral interview worth 15%; and (5) a leaderless group discussion, worth 15%. (R. 887-888). The final possible 10% of the exam was from the seniority rating. (R. 588).

7. Collins grieved three specific portions (the promotability,

fire simulation and written exercise) to the Commission. He felt those sections "did not comply with § 17-28-7, Utah Code Annotated, which requires that such examination shall be 'public, competitive and fair' and that such examination 'shall fairly test the fitness in every respect of persons examined'". (R. 675).

The specific allegations that Collins made regarding the examination were as follows.

8. He challenged that because the evaluators of these three sections were members of the fire department they were biased. Collins contended that they were especially biased against him because none of the evaluators had "specific, first hand and current knowledge regarding [Collins'] performance." (R. 675).

9. He challenged the promotability section of the exam, claiming that the personnel file used by the evaluators did not include evidence of the periodic merit ratings he was given during his years of employment. (R. 675).

10. Collins further alleged that irregularities had taken place in the fact sheets which candidates had filled out for inclusion in their files and were improperly received. (*Id.*) (R.675).

11. Because of these supposed irregularities, Collins felt that the promotability portion of the exam was based on "subjective and irrelevant criteria which prevented a competitive test fairly evaluating the skills of the participants." (*Id.*) (R. 675).

12. Collins believed that his score on the fire simulation exercise was lowered because he failed to completely fill out an

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